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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

NUSRATRIZVI AND EILEEN RIZVI,
Plaintiffs,

V. No. 3:18¢v-01921(VAB)

ALLSTATE CORPORATIONDALLAS C.
DODGE, SR.,AND A. E. OBERHAUS,
INC.,

Defendang.

RULING AND ORDER ON MOTION TO DISMISS

DallasC. Dodge,Sr.andA.E. Oberhausinc. (“Oberhaus”) bothDefendantsn this
lawsuit,moveto dismissthe Complaint oNusratRizvi andEileenRizvi (“Rizvis” or,
collectively,“Plaintiffs”) underFed.R. Civ. P. 12(b)(4)for insufficientprocessFed.R. Civ. P.
12(b)(5)for insufficientserviceof processandFed.R. Civ. P. 10(b)for failing to separateach
causeof actionagainsthem Motionto Dismiss,ECF.No. 10at 1 (Dec.19, 2018)“Oberhaus
Mot.”); Memorandum of.aw in Support of Motiorto Dismiss,ECFNo. 11at1 (Dec.19, 2018)
(“OberhaugVem.”). Additionally, theyhave movedo dismisstheRizvi’s Civil Racketeer
Influencedand Corrupt Organization8ct (“RICQO”) claim for violating the statuteof limitations,
andall four counts othe Complaint undeFed.R. Civ. P.12(b)(6).OberhaudMem. at 1.

TheRizvis have tjected

Allstate Corporation(“Allstate”), another Defendané)somovesto dismissthe Rizviss

Complaintin its entirety, Motion to Dismiss,ECFNo. 26 (Feb.25, 2019)“Allstate Mot.”),
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raisingsimilar grounds fodismissalMemorandum of.aw In Support of Motiorto Dismiss,
ECFNo. 27 (Feb.25, 2019)“Allstate Mem.”).

TheRizvis have nofiled anythingin responséo the Allstatemotionto dismiss.See
DocketEntries?

Forthereasonexplainedbelow, the CourGRANT S the motiongo dismiss

Thessolefederalclaimin this lawsuitis dismissedandthe Courtdeclinesto exercise
supplementgurisdiction over theremainingstatelaw claims.

l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND?

A. Factual Allegations

On or aboutlanuarys, 2004 allegedlyafterextensivewaterdamageo their home, the
Rizvisfiled aninsuranceclaim with the Allstate Corporationto payfor allegedlydamaged
furniture,which consistedf aMastercraftdining setwith atableandsix chairs,aswell asa
Mastercraftchinacabinet.d. 1 11-12Thediningtableallegedlyis handmadén Italy with
inlaid rosewoodgold leaf,andantiquebrasslid. { 14.

Allstate allegedlyemployedAdam Colagrossto appraisehedamageo the diningtable
andhe didsg, in consultatiorwith RichardD. Orsi, anantiquesandfine furniturerestorerid. 11
16-17. On October 24, 2008\r. Orsiallegedlystatedthathe could notestore‘the existing
sheerexactlybecausef the finishing techniquasedby themanufacturer.’ld.  19.0n October
26, 2005Mr. Orsi alsoallegedlyadmittedthat“it cannot beyuaranteedhat themainpartof the

tablewill exactlymatchthe undamagel@aves’of thetable.”ld. § 203

1 The Rizvishad until March 18, 2019 to file a timely response, and havasofthe date of this ruling.
2 All factual allegations are drawn fraire Rizvis’sComplaint.Complaint, ECF No. 1 (Nov. 27, 2018).
3 The Rizviscite to an Exhibit B and C as the written source of the statements made Bysilbut neither were

filed with the CourtThe Rizvisdid not file any exhibits with the Court, nor did they seek to file an angende
complaint at any point since they filed this lawsuit on November 27, 2058y event, the absence of these
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On October27, 2005Mr. DallasDodge,Sr., wasselectecasanumpireto oversedhe
appraisaisputeld. § 21.Mr. Dodgeallegedlyacknowledgedhatthe diningtablesustained
somewaterdamagebput “opinedthatthe matterhadbeen‘blown out of proportion.”ld. I 22
(citing Exhibit E, whichis not foundanywheran thematerialsfiled by Plaintiff to the Court).
Mr. DodgeallegedlyawardedheRizvis $3,709.68;an amount substantiallssthanthe costit
would taketo repairand/orreplacetheir dining table.”ld.  24.

TheRizvis allegethatit would cost$150,0000 restorethetableto its original condition,
far morethanthe amounawardedoy Mr. Dodge andAllstate.ld. § 25.

B. Procedural History

On November 27, 2018, tHeizvis suedtheAllstate Corporation(*Allstate”), DallasC.
Dodge,Sr. (“Mr. Dodge” or “Dodg€), andA.E. Oberhausinc. (“Oberhaus”)(collectively,
“Defendants”)in this Court.SeeComphkint § 1.

TheRizvis allegedonefederalclaim andthreecommonlaw claims violation of theCivil
RICOAct, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (Courne) id. 126-31; fraudulent ancealmen{CountTwo), id.
11 32-40; fraudulent isrepresentatiofCountThree) id. 11 41-29andnegligent
misrepresentatiofCount Four)jd. 1 50-55.

In support otheirfirst causeof actionunder theCivil RacketeeinfluencedandCorrupt
OrganizationgAct (“RICQO”), theRizvis allegethata“specialrelationship”existedovermany
yearsbetweenthedefendantssuchthat“[Mr. Dodge]and[Oberhausjvereusedby [Allstate] to
actasumpirefor claims” betweenAllstate andits claimants,;‘which werein disputebecause

claimantsbelievedtheywereseverelyjunderpaidffor theirinsuranceclaims.”Id.  27.

documentdad no effect on the Court’s decision. As discussed below, this lawsply $ails under the applicable
law.



In exchangdor “a steadystreamof clients,”Mr. DodgeandOberhausllegedlywould
helpto ensurehatAllstate would payfar lessthan they shoulth theeventof aloss.ld. § 28.
TheRizvis allegethatAllstate’s homeoffice in lllinois gavespecificinstructionsto Mr. Dodge
andOberhausthus conducting thenterpriseacrossstatelines,andthat over thecourseof many
years theDefendantsorresponded abotheir specialrelationshipgby mail, e-mail, and
telephoneld. § 29.

In support otheir secondcauseof actionunder fraudulentoncealmenttheRizvis
furtherallegethat,in July of 2018,Mr. Rizvi discovered through conversatiomish afew
formerAllstate employeesthat a businesselationshipexistedbetweenthe Defendants,
“wherebythepartiesconspiredo defraudpolicyholdersandsignificantlylesserthe amounts
which would bepaid to themin theeventof a loss.”ld. { 33.Mr. DodgeandOberhaus would
serveasanumpirefor disputed insurancgaimsandaward“substantiallylower thanthatwhich
wasneededo cover thdossesof policyholders.* Id. § 35.

TheRizvis allegethatthis businesgelationshipwvasneverdisclosedo them,andhad
theybeenawareof thespecialrelationshipthatallegedlyexisted they would not haventered
into acontractwith Allstate on Decembe3, 20031d. { 37.“But for thesimilarity discovered
amongst other policyholdersir. Rizvi neverwould havebeenawareof the fraud notto mention
beingreasonablybleto discoverthis fraudulentactivity.” Id. I 39.

In support otheirthird causeof actionunder fraudulenmisrepresentatigrthe Rizvis

allegethatan Allstate agentassuredhemin Decembe017 that“high-quality itemswithin

4 The Rizvis do not make clear the relationship between Mr. Dodge and Oberhaus

> These dates do not follow the chronological account set for by Plaistiftee Court proceeds under the
assumption that theate references a date earlier than January 6, 2004, when the Plaintiffefilédstirance
claim with Allstate. Compl{{11, 49.
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[their] home” would beorotectedunderAllstate’s homeowner’s insurance polidgl. §142-45.
TheRizvis allegedlyrelied ontheserepresentationshen theyenterednto a homeowner’s
insurancecontractwith Allstate on DecembeR3, 20171d. | 46.TheRizvis allegeAllstateand
its agentknewthesestatementsverefalsedueto their “long-standing relationshiwith [Mr.
Dodgeland[Oberhaus]which guaranteedhattheywould not haveéo honortheir contractual
commitments,’id. 1147-48,andthatthey did not honor thRizvis's policy in light of the loss
sufferedon January, 2004 jnsteadoffering “a mere$3,709.68'for a policywith coveiageup
to $249,0001d. 1146, 49.

Finally, in support otheir fourth causeof actionundermegligentmisrepresentatiorihe
Rizvis allegethat,on Decembe3, 2003, theyveremisledby theAllstate agent’s
representationthat their home would beoveredn theeventof damagéeo thestructureaswell
asprovidingprotectionof theitemsinside the home.ld.  51.TheRizvis allegethatthe
businesselationshipbetweernthe Defendantsvasintentionallyconcealedrom themandothers
“with thespecificintentionto deceiveotherwisdAllstate] would havedisclosedheir
relationshipprior to luring [the Rizvs] into a homeowner’s insurancentract.”ld. § 54.

TheRizvis allegethattheysufferedharmbecauséheir possessionaerenot protected
Theyseekcompensatorgamagesn the amounof $150,00for thereplacemenof insured
personalproperty,interestsaandcosts,commonlaw punitivedamagesandanyotherrelief that
the Courtdeemgust.

OnDecemben2, 2018 Mr. DodgeandOberhausubmitteda motionto dismissalong
with a supporting memorandu@eeOberhaudMot.; Oberhausiem.

TheyarguethattheRizvis failed to complywith FederaRulesof Civil Procedure 4nd

10(b),andthe Complainthereforeshould bedismissedSeeOberhaus Motat 1. Thesetwo



DefendantsalsoarguethatPlaintiffs’s RICO claimis barredby the satuteof limitations and
should bedismissedSeed. Finally, DefendantarguethattheRizvis's Complaintshould be
dismissedor failure to stateaclaim under Rulel2(b)(6).Seeid.

OnJanuary2, 2019, theRizvisfiled amotionto disqualify JudgeVictor A. Boldenfrom
hearingthis case SeeMotion to Disqualify Judge ECFNo.12(Jan.2, 2019). Teatingthe
Rizvis’s motionto disqualifyasamotionfor recusalthe CourideniedthemotiononJanuaryl0,
2019.SeeRulingandOrderon Motionfor RecusalECFNo. 13(Jan.10, 2019).

OnFebruaryl, 2019, theRizvis submittedan objectionto Defendants motionto
dismiss. SeeObjectionto Motion to Dismiss,ECFNo. 22 (Feb.1, 2019)“Rizvi Obj.”).

OnFebruaryl5, 2019thesetwo Defendantdiled areplyto Plaintiffs’s ohection to the
motion SeeReply,ECFNo. 23(Feb.15, 2019)" Oberhaufkeply).

OnFebruary25, 2019 Allstatefiled amotionto dismisstheRizvis's complaint.See
Allstate Mot.; Allstate Mem.

TheRizvis have not responded this motion®
. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motionto dismissunder Rule 12(b)(4equiresthatadefendanestablishinsufficient
procesaunder Rule 4 of thEederaRulesof Civil ProcedureA 12(b)(4)motionis proper only
to challengenoncompliancevith the provisions of Rule 4(b) @nyapplicable provision

incorporatey Rule4(b) thatdealsspecificallywith the content of the summon&3B C.

6 Plaintiffs did requesthatthe Clerk of Courte-issue an electronic summons toaflthedefendants on Segmber
17, 2019, but that action doest affect this rulingSeeFed. R. Civ. P. 4(m) (noting ninety (90) days as the time
limit for service);see alsd..R. 4(d) (noting 90 days as the time limit for service, abSanmotion for additional
time on good cause shovar, if no extension is required, a statement of axatior).

" Rule 4(b) states, “On or after filing the complaint, the plaintiffymeesent a summons to the clerk for signature
and seal. If the summons is properly completed, the clerk must sanagd issue it otthe plaintiff for service on
the defendant. A sumwns— or a copy of a summons that is addressed to multiple defenrdamist be issued for
each defendant to be served.” A defendant’s “[o]bjections to sufficieirocess under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(4)
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Wright & A. Miller, FederalPracticeandProcedure:Civil 3d§ 1353;Greenv. Wright, 389F.
Supp. 2d 416, 42@. Conn. 2005).

UnderFederalRule ofCivil Procedurd 2(b)(5),apartymayfile amotionto dismissdue
to “insufficient serviceof process.Fed.R. Civ. P.12(b)(5).“A motionto dismisspursuanto
Rule 12(b)(5) must bgrantedf theplaintiff fails to servea copyof the summonandcomplaint
on thedefendantpursuant to Rule 4 of tHeederaRules,which setsforth thefederal
requirementgor service.”"Rzayeva. United States492F. Supp. 2d 60, 74D. Conn. 2007).
Onceadefendanthallengewalidity of service, it becomesheplaintiff’'s burdento provethat
serviceof processvasadequate.Colev. AetnalLife & Cas, 70F. Supp. 2d 106, 11(D. Conn.
1999).

AlthoughFederalRuleof Civil Procedure 10(kequiresapartyto “stateits claimsor
defensesn numbered paragraphsdismissals not the appropriateemedyfor afailure to state
claimsin separateounts SeeHaberkampv. Steele 1992WL 84544 ,at*8 (S.D.N.Y.Apr. 15,
1992). “Under Rule 10(b) separatiorof claimsinto separateountsis mandatory onlyhen
necessyy to facilitate clearpresentation.Original Ballet Russev. Ballet Theatre 133 F.2d 187,
189(2d Cir. 1943).In thefaceof a vagueomplaint,a defendant shoultiakea motionfor a
moredefinite statementunder Rulel2(e).SeeFieldsv. Village of Skokie 502F. Supp. 456, 460
(N.D. Ill. Dec.3, 1980).

A complaint mustontaina “shortandplain statemenof theclaim showingthatthe
pleadeiis entitledto relief.” Fed.R. Civ. P.8(a).Any claimthatfails “to stateaclaim upon

whichrelief canbe granted”will bedismissedFed.R. Civ. P.12(b)(6).In reviewinga

must identify substantive deficiencies in the swoms) complaint or accompanying documentati@iFillippo v.
Special Metals. Corp299 F.R.D. 348. 3533 (N.D.N.Y. 2014) (citation omitted).



complaint under Rul&2(b)(6),a courtappliesa“plausibility standard guidedby “two working
principles.” Ashcroftv. Igbal, 556U.S.662, 678 (2009).

First, “[tlhreadbarerecitalsof theelementf acauseof action,supportedy mere
conclusorystatementsjo notsuffice.” Id.; seealsoBell Atl. Corp.v. Twombly 550U.S.544,
555 (2007 “While acomplaintattackedoy aRule 12(b)(6)motionto dismissdoes noheed
detailedfactualallegations . . aplaintiff’'s obligationto provide the ‘grounds’ of his
‘entitle[ment]to relief’ requiresmorethanlabelsandconclusionsandaformulaicrecitationof
theelementsf acauseof actionwill not do.”(internalcitationsomitted)).Second, “only a
complaintthatstatesa plausibleclaim for relief survives anotionto dismiss.”Igbal, 556U.S. at
679. Thus, the complaint musbntain“factual amplification. . .to renderaclaim plausible.”
AristaRecordd LC v. Doe 3, 604 F.3d 110, 120 (2dir. 2010) (quotingrurkmenv. Ashcroft
589 F.3d 542, 54(2d Cir. 2009)).

When reviewing a complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), the court
takes all factual allegations in the complaint as tigieal, 556 U.S. at 67.8The court also views
the allegations in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and draws all inferenttes
plaintiff's favor. Cohen v. S.A.C. Trading Cor@.11 F.3d 353, 359 (2d Cir. 2013ge also York
v. Ass’n of the Bar of the City of New Y,di2B6 F.3d 122, 125 (2d Cir.) (“On a motion to dismiss
for failure to state a claim, we construe the complaint in the light most favorabéetaihtiff,
accepting the complaint’s allegations as true.”), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1089 (2002).

A court considering anotionto dismissunder Rulel2(b)(6)generallylimits its review
“to thefactsasassertedvithin the fourcornersof thecomplaint,the documentst@chedo the
complaintasexhibits,andanydocumentsncorporatedn the complainby reference.’McCarthy

v.Dun & BradstreetCorp, 482 F.3d 184, 19(@d Cir. 2007). A courtmayalsoconsider



“mattersof which judicial noticemaybetaken”and“documentsitherin plaintiffs’ possession
or of which plaintiffs hadknowledgeandrelied onin bringing suit.”"Brassv. Am.Film Techs.,
Inc., 987 F.2d 142, 150 (2dir. 1993);Patrowiczv. TransamericaHomeFirst,Inc., 359F. Supp.
2d 140, 144D. Conn. 2005).

With pro selitigants,this Court mustiberally construeheirfilings to raisethe“strongest
argumentst suggests.SeeTriestmarnv. Fed.Bureau ofPrisons,470 F.3d 471, 47&d Cir.
2006);seealsoSykess/. Bank ofAm., 723 F.3d 399, 40@d Cir. 2013) (quotinglriestman 470
F.3dat474).

1. DISCUSSION
A. TheClaimsAgainst Oberhaus and Dodge
1. Theapplication of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rules 12(b)(4) and 12(b)(5)

OberhauandMr. Dodgeasserwvariousissueswith processandserviceof processunder
FederaRulesof Civil Procedurd2(b)(4)and12(b)(5).

First, OberhausndMr. DodgearguethattheRizvis failed to servethemwith the
summonsssuedby the court. Oberhaullem. at 6. Plaintiffs insteadcraftedtheir own summons,
which includedneitherthe Clerk’s signature nor the @irt’s seal,andincludedincorrectdates
for which the Defendantsvereto appeaanddefendld. at 6-7. The summonsstatedthe
Defendantsvereto appeamlanddefendwithin twentydaysfrom theserviceof the Complaint,
wherethe proper requiremert twenty-onedays.Id.

SecondPDefendantarguethattheRizvis violatedRule4(c) by 1) attemptingo serve
Defendantwia certified mail, 2) serving only ainglecopy of the complainto bothMr. Dodge
andOberhausat Oberhaus’rincipalplaceof businessand3) failing to servethefull

Complaintwith all Exhibits. Oberhauslem. at 8-9. Theynotethatthis Courthasalready



addressedimilarissueswith theRizvis before Id. at 9; seeRizviv. UrstadtBiddle Properties
Inc., 2018WL 4688305at*10 (D. Conn.Sept.28, 2018) (notinghat“Plaintiffs haveadmitted
their failure to properlyserveDefendant . .andhavenotrepliedto theprocessllegationsof the
remainingDefendantsPlaintiffs have thusadmittedthattheyfailed to properlyservethe UBP
Defendants . . .The Courtthereforewould haveto grantdismissalasto theseDefendantsif it
reachedheissuesof sufficientprocess.”).

In responseRlaintiffs arguethatthis District tends to interpretRule 4(b)s provisions
liberally, and by extension Rule4(a) Rizvi Replyat 2-3; seeBatesv. City of Bristol, No. 3:17-
cv-1066, 2018J.S.Dist. LEXIS 49687 ,at *20 (D. Conn.Mar. 26, 2018)“[T] echnicalerrorson
a summons do natutomaticallyrenderservice on adefendantnsufficient.”). TheRizvis also
arguethatotherdistrict court decisionsvithin the SecondCircuit similarly placesubstance
aboveform for the summondd.; see,e.g, Kriegerv. Am.Expresg-in. Advisors,2000U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 1663, at *4W.D.N.Y. Feb.16, 2000)denyingdefendant’s motioto dismissfor
insufficientserviceof processwvhereplaintiff servedanunsignecandunsealedsummons). In
theirview, the Rizviss unsigned andnsealedsummons should nétarthem“from their dayin
court,” RizviReplyat 4, andneithershould“the absencef a signaturandsealconstitutea
‘flagrant substantiveerror.”” 1d. (citing Durantv. Traditional Invest.,Ltd., 1990U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 3074,at*4 (S.D.N.Y.Mar. 22, 1990) (holdinghata summons without theerk’s
signatureandcourts sealwasnot aflagrantsubstantiverrorbecause¢hedefendanteceived
sufficientnoticeandwasnot prejudiced)The Rizvis emphasizéhatthey“compliedwith this
court’sliberalinterpretationof Rule4(a).” Rizvi Replyat 4.

FurthermoretheRizvis arguethatevenif the Defendants’allegationsveretrue,they

would notconstituteafailure to complywith Rule4(c). Rizvi Replyat5. Theyemphasizehat
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the purpose of theervicerequirementss “to appriseinterestegartiesof the pendency of the
actionandafford theman opportunityto presentheir objections.”Mullanev. Cent.Hanover
Bank &Tr. Co, 339U.S.306, 314 (1950)The RizvisarguethatbecauséMr. Dodgeand
Oberhausrebusinespartnersaandrepresentetly thesamecounseljt makessensdor themto
assumehatonecopymailedto Oberhaus wouldlsoputMr. Dodge on notice. Sbecausehe
Defendantseceivednotice,evenif incorrectlyper Rule4(c), Plaintiffs urge the Courto
considetrtheir failure amere“techical[sic] imperfectionin service.”Rizvi Replyat 7.

In reply, Mr. DodgeandOberhaus Ighlightthat“pro seplaintiffs arenotexcusedrom
complyingwith procedural rules.Oberhauskeplyat 2; seealsoMcNeil v. United States 508
U.S.106, 113 (1993 [W]e haveneversuggestedhatproceduratulesin ordinarycivil
litigation should benterpretedsoasto excusamistakesy thosewho proceedwithout
counsel.”).

The Courtagrees.

In this case thePlaintiffs's summondailed to containthreeof thesevenrequired
elementof Rule4(a)(1).It includesthewrongdatefor which defendantsvererequiredto
appeaanddefend,t does not bar thecourt’sseal,andit does not include theerk’s signature.
This goesbeyond aneretechnicalflaw andplainly violatesRule4(b). Seeg.g, Macalusov.
N.Y.SDep't of Envtl. Conservation115 F.R.D. 16, 18E.D.N.Y. 1985) (grantingnotionto
dismissfor insufficientserviceof procesdecausa@nunsealedunsigned summonsasnot a
meretechnicaldefect,butrathera“completedisregardor therequirement®f processetforth
clearlyandconciselyin Rule4”).

Becausgbarelyayearago, theRizvis's filings presentedimilar problemsn this Court,

seeRizvi,2018WL 4688305at *10, thereis lessof areasorto excuseheir failure today.
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Althoughpro secomplaintsare“construediberally,” seeSyles 723 F.3dat 403,repetitive
serviceandprocessssuesndicateaflagrantand“completedisregard for Rule4’s
requirementsSee Macalusdl15 F.R.Dat 18. The Court cannot ignortheir failure to provide
al of theExhibitsreferencedn their Complaintto Defendant$ Significantly, neither
Connecticutaw nor theFederaRulesprovidefor serviceby mail, asthe Rizvis haveattempted
to dohere SeeConn.Gen.Stat.Ann. § 52 As aresult,the Rizvis havalsoviolatedRule4(c).

In anyevent,asdiscussedelow,this casemust bedismissedor otherreasonsthis
Courtthereforewill notdismissthis caseonthis basis

2. Theapplication of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 10(b)

Mr. DodgeandOberhausrguethattheRizvis's Complaintfails to separateachcause
of actionagainstachDefendant per Rul&0(b)’'srequirementstherebymakingit unclearo
whom theallegationor causeof actionis addressingOberhausgvem. at 11.

TheRizvis arguethat Defendants’allegationis disingenuoushecauséDefendantsare
chargedwith identicalcause®f actionbasedupon thesametransaction.” RizvReplyat 8.
Furthermoregevenif the Courtwereto find thatthe Rizvis failed to complywith Rule 10(b), the
Court shouldgrantthemleaveto amendheir Complaint.

The Courtagrees.

TheRizvi ComplaintsatisfiesRule 10(b)’'srequirementdecausdt is sufficiently clearas
to theallegationsandagainstwhom theyarealleged,i.e.,all Defendantsxamedn the
Complaint.Furthermoredismissais not the appropriateemedyfor afailure to stateclaimsin

separateountsasrequredby Rule10(b).See OriginaBallet Russe133 F.2dat 189.

8 The Rizvs have also failed to ametwitheir Complainthevarious exhibitseferencedn their filings, despite the
Court’s Notice on November 28, 2018, requiring all counsel oirsptesented parties to serve all parties with
attached documents and copies of relevant docunteslotice to Counsel, ECF No. 5 (Nov. 28, 2019).
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As aresult the Courdeniesthemotionto dismisson Rule 10(b) grounds.
3. TheRICO Claim
a. Theapplicable statute of limitations

Defendant@arguethat CountOneis time-barred. The RICO statutedoesnotexpressly
provide astatuteof limitations.Seel8 U.S.C. 88§ 1961-196& AgencyHolding Corp.v.
Malley-Duff & Associatesinc., the Supreme Cougstablishedhatthe statuteof limitationsfor a
civil RICOclaimis four years.See483U.S. 143 (1987)This four-yearwindow begingolling as
soonasthe injuredparty discovers or shouldavediscoveredhe injury.SeeRotellav. Wood
528U.S.549, 553 (2000).

“Federalcourts . . generallyapply a discovergccrualrule whenastatuteis silenton the
issueascivil RICOis here.”ld. at 555.Eventhough*“a patternof predicateactsmaywell be
complex,concealedor fraudulent,” thusequiring“considerablesffort” on thepartof aRICO
plaintiff, theclock does notlelayuntil theplaintiff hasdiscovered patternof predicateactivity.
Id. at 556-59.In so concluding, the Cougmphasizedhat“the objectof civil RICOis thus not
merelyto compensateictims butto turntheminto prosecutorsprivateattorneysgyeneral,
dedicatedo eliminatingracketeeringactivity.” Id. at 557 (quotationsmitted).

Generally,aplaintiff musthaveactualor inquiry notice of thallegedinjury atissuein
orderfor theclock to startrunning.SeeKochv. Christine’sint’l PLC, 699 F.3d 141, 150-52d
Cir. 2012).Thecourtin Lentellestablishedvheninquiry noticeoccurs,in anothercontext,a
securitiedraudcase seeLentellv. Merrill Lynch& Co., 393 F.3d 161, 168 (2&ir. 2005):

Inquiry noticeeftencalled“storm warnings”in the securitiescontextgivesriseto

a duty of inquiry'when thecircumstaceswould suggedib aninvestor of ordinary

intelligencethe probabilitythat shehasbeendefrauded.”In suchcircumstances,

theimputationof knowledgewill betimedin one oftwo ways:(i) “[i]f the investor

makesno inquiryoncethe dutyarises,knowledgewill beimputedas of the date
the dutyarose”;and (ii) if some inquiryis made,“we will impute knowledge of
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whatan investorin the exerciseof reasonableliligence[] shouldhavediscovered

concerningthe fraud, andin suchcaseshe limitations periodbeginsto run from

thedatesuchinquiry should haveevealedhe fraud.”

Id. (citationsomitted).
Thisview of thelaw alsoappliesto RICO actions.SeeKoch 699 F.3dcat 151-52 ({T]he Lentell
articulationof inquiry noticecontinuego applyin RICO actions.”). Thus, thRICO statuteof
limitations “runs evenwherethefull extentof theRICO schemas notdiscovereduntil alater
date,solong astherewere‘stormwarnings’'thatshould have promptethinquiry.” World
Wresling Entm’t, Inc. v. JakksPac.,Inc., 328Fed.Appx. 695, 697 (2009).

Defendantarguethat,if Plaintiffs’s allegationsareacceptedstrue,thentheyhad
knowledge othe alleged‘specialrelationshifi betweerDefendants upoissuanceof the
appraisabwardon October27, 2005. Oberhaudem. at 14. Themajordiscrepancyetweerthe
awardof “$3,709.69 an amountsubstantialljessthanthe costit wouldtaketo repairand/or
replacetheir diningtable,” Compl. { 24andtheRizvis’s allegationthat“it would costan
estimatedb150,000to replacethetable,Compl. I 25, should have promptdinquiry.
Becausehis eventoccurredat theendof 2005,the statuteof limitationsranin 2009.

TheRizvis arguethatthediscrepancyetweerthe estimatectostto repairtheir tableand
theactualamountawarded‘doesnotin itself provide asufficient‘stormwarning’in 2005.”
Rizvi Replyat 10. Instead, thegrguethatthe“lowballed insurance compargward[]”
constituteda“commonplaceevent” id. at 10-11,andthatthey“were not under inquiry notice
until it canbe showrPlaintiffs hadfull knowledge of thextentof thespecialrelationship
betweerDefendants.Id. at 11. BecauséDefendants have not showhenPlaintiffs allegedly

possessethis knowledge,” theRizvis aguethattheir RICO claimis nottime barred.Id.
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In responseMr. Dodgeand Oberhauemphasizehatif therewasaconstanfight over
allegedlylow insurance compargwardsthentheseawardswould providesufficientnoticeand
prompt theRizvis’s dutyto investigate Oberhaudkeplyat 4-5.

The Courtagrees

Theinjury discoveryaccrualrule appliesto civil RICO actionsandnot the injuryand
patterndiscoveryrule. SeeRotellg 528U.S.at 554-55,(“[IJn applying a discovergccrualrule, .
. . dscoveryof the injury, not discovery of thetherelementsf theclaim, is whatstartsthe
clock.”). In Koch, which affirmedthedistrict court’sdismissalof plaintiff's civil RICO andother
claimsfor beingtime-barredat themotion to dismissstage the Secon€ircuit notedthat
“knowledgeof factsthatwould suggesto areasonablyntelligentperson the probabilitshatthe
persorhasbeeninjuredis dispositive.”"Koch 699F. 3dat 153.“[O]nce therearesufficient
‘storm warnings’to trigger the dutyo inquire,andthe dutyarisesjf aplaintiff does not inquire
within thelimitations period, theclaimwill betime-barred.”ld.

Thus,it isirrelevantthattheRizvis did not have“full knowledge” ofthealleged‘special
relationship”betweenAllstate, Mr. Dodge,andOberhaus, untiheir conversationsvith former
Allstateemployeesn July 2018.SeeRizvi Replyat 11; Compl. § 33The operativedateis when
thePlaintiffs discoverecdr should have discoverdkeir allegedinjury.

Here,thatdateis October 27, 2005yhenMr. Dodgepresentedhefinal appraisabward
to the Rizvs. Compl.f121-24.Evenif theRizvis did not havdull knowledgeof thealleged
schemeonthis date,the discoveryccrualrule doesnotrequirethis full knowledge. Theaward
itself is the injury,andthus provides the notice of inquigndbeginsthe fouryearstatuteof
limitations. Thetime for theRizvis to bringtheir civil RICO claim thusexpiredon October 27,

20009.
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Accordingly,the Courtwill dismissthecivil RICO claim on statuteof limitations
grounds.

b. Theapplication of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 12(b)(6)

DefendantdgurtherallegethatPlaintiffs havefailed to stateany plausibleclaimsof relief
under Rule 12(b)(6Eventhough thecivil RICO claimwill bedismissedn statuteof
limitations grounds, the Couwill alsoaddresgshefailure of thatclaim asamatterof law.

“To substantiate claim of RICO activity, a Plaintiff must demonstrate serioasminal
activity conductedy anestablisheariminal enterprise.’Rizvi 2018WL 4688305at *8 (citing
Carousel Foods oAm.,Inc.v. Abrams & Ca.423F. Supp. 2d 119, 12¢5.DN.Y. 2006)).The
RICO statutestates:

It shallbe unlawfulfor anyperson through patternof racketeeringctivity or

throughcollectionof an unlawful debto acquireor maintain,directly or

indirectly, anyinterestin or control ofanyenterprisevhichis engagedn, or the

activitiesof which affect,interstateor foreigncommerce.

18 U.S.C. § 1962(b).

A civil RICO claimtherefore‘supplement[s] Governmeefforts. . .in the public good.See
Rotellg 528U.S.at 550.“Typically, RICO investigationsareconductedy the government on
seriouspftenviolentcriminal syndicates.’Rizvi 2018 WL 468830%t *8 (citing United States
v. Allen, 155 F.3d 35, 372d Cir. 1998)).

A plaintiff must thus show conduct ahenterprisehrough goatternof racketeering
activity thatmeetstherequisite“magnitudeof criminality involvedin RICO cases.’'SeeRizvi,
2018WL 4688305t *9. Racketeeringctivity canbe“any actor threatinvolving” certainstate
law crimesor specifiedfederaloffensesSeel8 U.S.C. § 1961T0 establisha pattern theRICO

statuterequiresat leasttwo actsof racketeeringctivity within atenyearperiod.Seeid.

16



DefendantarguethatPlaintiffs fail to setforth a plausibleclaim or to sufficiently allege
anenterprisdbetweerthe DefendantsSeeOberhaudviem. at 17-22.Theyargueextensivelythat
the Rizve’s Complaintis repletewith conclusoryallegationsid. Importantly,accordingo the
DefendantstheRizvisfail to provide additionaspecificactsbeyond theselectionof Mr. Dodge
asumpire on October 25, 20@mdthe conversationsith afew formeremployee®f Allstatein
July of 2018 SeeOberhaudMem.at 22; Complaintf21, 33.As aresult the Rizvisarguably
fall short of thdgbal andTwomblys 12(b)(6)standardSeelgbal, 556 U.S.at 678, quoting
Twambly, 550U.S.at 555 (The courtis “not boundto acceptastrue alegal conclusioncouched
asafactualalegation’).

In response, the Rizvimerelyassertthattheir Complaintis sufficient,andif not,that
they “should bdreely grantedeaveto amend’ Rizvi Obj. at 12.

The Courtdisagrees

Although a court shoulfteely grantleaveto amenda pleading“whenjusticeso
requires, Fed.R. Civ. P. 15(%3), the Rizvisneversoughtto amendheir Complaint.See
DocketEntries.Moreimportantly,amendmenbf theRizviss Complaintwith respecto their
civil RICO claim would befutile. SeeOberhauskeplyat 5. The Rizvis’s claimsabout d'special
relationship”betweerDefendantgalls short of thaequsite level of criminality for RICO. See
Rizvi 2018WL 4688305t *9 (“Nothingin thepleadingssupports a findinghatDefendants
engagedn a conspiracy on thevel of aRICO syndicate.”) Thecrux of theRizvis’s complaint
is thatAllstate appointedVir. Dodge ofOberhaudo serveasthe umpiren their appraisaland
that his appointmengvidenceghespecialrelationshipbetweernthe DefendantsComplaint{[|

27-31.
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But theappraisersnot apartyin theappraisalselectthe umpire SeeConn.Gen.Stat.
Ann. 8 38a-307a (h casethe insurecindthis Companyshallfail to agreeasto theactualcash
value or the amount dbss,then, on thevrittendemandof either,eachshallselectacompetent
anddisintereste@ppraiser . Theappraisershallfirst selectacompetenanddisinterested
umpire[.]"). Following Connecticutaw, seeid., Allstateandthe Rizviseachappointedheir own
appraiserswho thenjointly appointedvir. Dodgeasumpire.SeeAllstate Mem. at 1. Nothingin
thepleadingssupports a findinghatAllstate aloneselectedr. Dodgeto serveasumpire.See
Complaint{{ 11-55.The “specialrelationship” underlying thentireComplaintthusbecomes
evenlessplausible See Igbal556U.S. at 678, citing Twombly 550U.S.at 556 (“A claim has
facial plausibility whenthe plaintiff pleadsfactualconentthatallowsthe courto drawthe
ressonabldanferencethatthedefendants liable for the misconducalleged. . . The plausibility
standards notakinto a ‘probabilityrequirement,but it asksfor morethana sher possibility
thatadefendanthasactedunlawfully.”).

CountOnethereforeshould balismissedasto Mr. DodgeandOberhaus.

BecauseCountOneis the only federalcauseof action, the Courdeclinesto exercise
supplementgurisdiction over theremainingstatelaw claims. See28U.S.C.8 1367(c{3) (“The
district courtsmaydeclineto exercisesupplementglrisdiction over aclaim under subsection
(a)if . . . thedistrict courthasdismissedll claimsoverwhichit hasoriginal jurisdiction.”);see,
e.g, Castellanov. Bd. Of Trustees937F.2d 752, 758 (2¢€Cir. 1991) (quotindJnited Mine
Workersv. Gibbs 383U.S.715, 726 (1991) (f]f thefederalclaimsaredismissedeforetrial . .
., thestateclaimsshould balismissedaswell.”).

Accordingly,the Courtwill dismissthislawsuit atleastin federalcourt, againsmr.

DodgeandOberhausin its entirety.
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B. TheClaimsAgainst Allstate
1. Theapplication of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rules 12(b)(4) and 12(b)(5)

Allstateraisesthesameserviceandprocessssueswith respectto theRizvis’s lawsuit
AllstateMem. at4-7.

Forthesamereasonasdetailedabove there aregroundgor dismissingheseclaims
under 12(b)(4and12(b)(5), but the Couwtill addresghe substance dlIstates claims.

2. TheRICO Claim

DefendantllstatefurtherallegesthattheRizvis havefailed to stateany plausibleclaims
of relief. Allstate argueghatall of Plaintiffs’s counts should bdismissedor failure to statea
claimbecause(1) theRICO claimis untimelyandimproperlypleadedAllstate Mem. at 7-13;
(2) fraudulenttoncealmenis not arecognizedcauseof actionunder Connecticut commaaw,
id. at 13-14; (3) fraudulentnisrepresentatiohasnotbeenplausiblyalleged,d. at 14-15;and(4)
theclaim of negligentmisrepresentatiois untimelyanddoesnot complywith theheightened
pleadingstandardf Feceral Rule ofCivil Proceduré(b),id. at 15-17.

BecawsetheRICO claim againstAllstatefails for thesamereasonsstheclaimsagainst
OberhauandMr. Dodge,bothfor lack of timelinessandafailure to statea claim, this claim also
will bedismissedgainstAllstate,andthe Courtdeclinesto exercisesupplementgurisdiction
over theremainingstatelaw claims.See28 U.S.C. 8 1367(dB); Castellang 937 F.2dat 758.

Accordingly, the Courtwill dismissthe ComplainagainstAllstatein its entirety.
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V. CONCLUSION
For theforegoingreasonspefendants motiors to dismissare GRANTED.
Thesolefederalclaimis dismissedandthe Courtdeclinesto exercisesupplemental
jurisdiction over theremainingstatelaw claims
TheClerk of the Couris directedrespectfullyto closethis case.
SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticuthis 25th dayof September2019.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden
VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITED STATESDISTRICTJUDGE
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